

Value at Risk: An analysis for the European Stock Exchanges

Christina - Chrysi Kontaratou

SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS, BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION & LEGAL STUDIES

A thesis submitted for the degree of

Master of Science (MSc) in Banking & Finance

October 2016 Thessaloniki, Greece Student Name:

SID: Supervisor: Chrysi- Christina Kontaratou

1103140010 Prof. Timotheos Angelidis

I hereby declare that the work submitted is mine and that where I have made use of another's work, I have attributed the source(s) according to the Regulations set in the Student's Handbook.

October 2016

Thessaloniki- Greece

Abstract

This dissertation focuses on the estimation of Value at Risk in six European Stock Exchanges from the beginning of the millennium. It presents the theoretical framework regarding the VaR techniques as well as the ARCH models which are commonly used in the estimation of market risk. On the empirical part, the dissertation provides an insight into parametric models like Risk Metrics and non parametric like Historical Simulation and in order to evaluate their predictive ability during the recent global financial crisis they are backtested. In addition, models of the ARCH family are being presented extensively since they are commonly used in the VaR forecasting procedure. The Akaike's Information as well as the Schwarz's Bayesian Information Criterion are examined so as to be concluded if the aforementioned models are trustworthy and could predict VaR accurately.

Keywords: Value at Risk, Backtesting, ARCH, AIC, SBIC

Acknowledgments

The completion of this dissertation was funded by the State Scholarship Foundation within the framework of the scholarship program for funding master studies in Greece with entry into the labour market for the academic year 2014-2015. I would like to thank my family and Pr. Angelidis for his valuable guidance. In addition I would like to thank National Bank of Greece for the unique opportunity that offered me and the support throughout my postgraduate studies.

Abstract	3
Introduction	6
1. Value at Risk	7
1.1 VaR Methodologies	8
2. Parametric models	8
2.1 Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedastic Models	9
2.2 Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedastic Models	11
3. Non parametric models	12
3.1 Historical Simulation	
4. Semi parametric models	14
4.1 Filtered Historical Simulation	15
4.2 Extreme Value Theory	16
5. Backtesting	
5.1 Unconditional coverage	
5.2 Independence coverage	19
5.3 Conditional coverage	19
5.3 Conditional coverage6. Expected Shortfall	
5.3 Conditional coverage6. Expected Shortfall7. Empirical Investigation and Methodology	
5.3 Conditional coverage6. Expected Shortfall7. Empirical Investigation and Methodology8. Data Analysis	19 21 22 24
 5.3 Conditional coverage	
 5.3 Conditional coverage 6. Expected Shortfall. 7. Empirical Investigation and Methodology. 8. Data Analysis 8.1 Descriptive statistics 8.2 Historical Simulation 8.3 Filtered Historical Simulation 8.4 Expected Shortfall. 8.5 EVIEWS results 8.5.1 ARCH 8.5.2 GARCH. 8.5.3 EGARCH 	
 5.3 Conditional coverage	
 5.3 Conditional coverage 6. Expected Shortfall. 7. Empirical Investigation and Methodology. 8. Data Analysis 8.1 Descriptive statistics 8.2 Historical Simulation 8.3 Filtered Historical Simulation 8.4 Expected Shortfall. 8.5 EVIEWS results 8.5.1 ARCH 8.5.2 GARCH. 8.5.3 EGARCH 8.5.4 APARCH 8.5.5 TARCH 	

Table of Contents

9. Comparison of the models and model selection	40
9.1 Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC)	.41
9.2 Schwarz's Bayesian Information Criterion (SBIC)	.42
Conclusions	.44
References	45

List of Tables

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of the daily log returns 2	25
Table 2: VaR results under the Variance Covariance method 2	28
Table 3: VaR results under the Historical Simulation method 3	30
Table 4: Expected Shortfall 3	32
Table 5: ARCH(1) with AR(1) results	33
Table 6: GARCH(1,1) results 3	35
Table 7: EGARCH(1,1) results	36
Table 8: APARCH(1,1) results 3	37
Table 9: TARCH(1,1) results	39
Table 10: Akaike's Info Criterion for the first Group 4	11
Table 11: Akaike's Info Criterion for the second Group	12
Table 12: Schwarz's Criterion for the first Group	12
Table 13: Schwarz's Criterion for the second Group 4	13

List of Figures

Figure 1: Frequency Distribution	25
Figure 2: Plot of returns	26
Figure 3: Dickey- Fuller test results	27
Figure 4: HS VaR graph	30
Figure 5: FHS VaR graph	31

Introduction

Risk, is the volatility of unexpected outcomes, which can represent the value of assets, equity or earnings (Jorion, 2007). The latest global financial crisis in 2008, is just another example of how unstable and liquid the conditions on both domestic and international level are, and pointed out the vulnerability of the global Stock Exchanges to market risk. According to the European Banking Authority "market risk can be defined as the risk of losses in on and off-balance sheet positions arising from adverse movements in market prices or market rates"

The burst of the global financial crisis back in 2008 revealed that both the corporations as well as the nations themselves were unprepared to deal with the new conditions that appeared. Many economies around the world fell in recession, with some European countries to face the most severe consequences. Countries like Ireland, Iceland and Portugal faced a dramatic shrinkage of their economy and a rescue package from EU, IMF and ECB was necessary in order to avoid the default. On the other hand there were countries within EU that didn't undergo those vast difficulties, like UK, France and Germany. These economies remain stable regardless of the condition in the rest European states. The sui generis phenomenon that took place in Europe with the implementation of the Common Market increases the interrelationship among European economies but, as the crisis pointed out, not all countries have suffered to the same extent. This dissertation aims to investigate if the condition of the country's economy has played a major role in the minimization of the crisis' consequences. That is why the three richest and three of the countries that participated in a rescue program are selected for the research. In addition it will be examined if the commonly used VaR models were accurate in forecasting the market risk of the European Stock Exchanges during the crisis. In order to do so, parametric models like Risk Metrics and non parametric like Historical Simulation were estimated and backtested. Apart from these, many models from the ARCH family were estimated so as to decide which model could have forecasted better VaR in the years followed 2008. Finding an accurate model could prove to be very beneficial in the future, since the countries could use the models as one more tool towards predicting market risk and eliminate the unpleasant consequences of a crisis.

1. Value at Risk

The concept of VaR models was developed when it was apparent that mismanagement and misinterpretations of financial risk could lead to financial disasters. Financial Risk management refers to the design and implementation of procedures for identifying, measuring and managing financial risk (Jorion 2007) and VaR models can be a useful tool.

VaR is a statistic of the dispersion of a distribution and refers to a portfolio's worst outcome likely to occur over a predetermined period and a given confidence level (Angelidis, Benos and Degiannakis 2006). It is a single number, expressed on currency unit that reveals an institution's exposure to market risk, where market risk is the risk that arises due to changes in market prices. This conceptual simplicity is the reason why VaR has gained popularity and has been imposed by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (1996) as the tool in order to calculate market risk.

VaR is expressed as a $100\alpha\%$ quantile of the density of returns and can be interpreted as follows: At time t, the probability that the return of a portfolio will be lower that the VaR equals to $100\alpha\%$ and the mathematical expression of the above sentence is given by the equation (1):

$$VaR^{\alpha}_{t} = -\sup [r | P [Rt \le r] \le \alpha]$$
(1)

On the years that followed, the VaR methodology was evolved in order to measure other types of risks apart from that of market like liquidity risk (L-Var). During the financial crisis, it was apparent that understanding and measuring the liquidity risk was vital not only in order to forecast but also to impugn the crisis. Liquidity risk takes the form of either market liquidity risk which arises from the assets illiquidity or the funding cash flow liquidity risk that arises when the liabilities can be paid fully on in time. But although VaR could also be a useful tool towards dealing with financial crisis, it doesn't pay attention to the results when a position is liquidated. Therefore L VaR was introduced as a tool in order to account liquidity risk which is inherent to all markets.

VaR analysis should be implemented not only to financial institutions but also to countries as a whole since, due to the globalization that exists today, the results of one

country could provide useful information for others. A good example could be Europe; the European economies are closely connected and integrated due to the Common Market and the single currency. As a result, a VaR analysis for a European country could be proved beneficial for another EU member.

1.1 VaR Methodologies

There are many methodologies and models in order to calculate VaR that has been under scrutiny by many researchers.

The models that are used in order to calculate VaR are classified into three categories.

- The parametric models such as the Risk Metrics and GARCH
- The non parametric models such as the Historical Simulation
- The semi parametric models such as Filtered Historical Simulation and Extreme Value Theory

2. Parametric models

The first category, the parametric models, proposes a specific parameterization for the behavior of prices. Risk Metrics make the assumption that the sample under scrutiny follows the normal distribution and that tomorrow's volatility is affected by the weighted average of today's volatility plus today's squared return. The variance, that is the volatility, is calculated with the use of the Exponentially Weighted Moving Average (EWMA) according to the following equation (2):

$$\sigma^{2}_{t+1} = \lambda \sigma^{2}_{t} + (1-\lambda) R^{2}_{t}$$
 (2)

where:

 $\sigma^2_{t+1:}$ is the conditional covariance of the day t+1 $\sigma^2_{t:}$ is the conditional covariance of the day t (the previous day) λ : is a parameter set to be equal to 0,94 for large data \mathbf{R}^2_t : is the squared return of the Index on day t The unknown parameter λ is set to be 0,94 since as the sample increases in size the estimates are resembled to each other. The Risk Metric model was introduced by J.P Morgan (1996) and it has its roots on the Integrated GARCH (IGARCH) model according to Nieto and Ruiz (2015). The use of EWMA helps the researchers to overcome the problem of volatility clustering. The volatility clustering arises from the fact that asset variances are constantly changing and more specifically big changes in variance tend to cause big changes and vice versa.

2.1 Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedastic Models

The coping of clustering was the reason why GARCH models were used, with Bollerslev (1986) to be the first to mention them. The simplest form of this model is the GARCH (1,1) that can be expressed using the following equation (3):

$$y_{t} = \sigma_{t}\varepsilon_{t} \quad \varepsilon_{t} \sim i.i.d. \quad (0,1)$$

$$\sigma_{t}^{2} = \omega + \alpha y_{t-1}^{2} + \beta \sigma_{t-1}^{2}$$
(3)

where:

 σ^{2}_{t+1} is the conditional covariance of the day t+1

 σ_{t}^2 is the conditional covariance of the day t (the previous day)

- εt: standardized residuals
- **ω:** intercept coefficient

And with $0 \le \alpha$, $0 \le \beta$, $\alpha + \beta < 1$

The ARCH (Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedastic) models were first introduced by Engle (1982) and later the analysis was continued by Bollerslev (1986). After that, many researches were conducted and therefore there is plenty of literature providing with findings regarding to which method is more accurate in order to estimate VaR. The equation that describes the ARCH models is the following (4)

$$\sigma^{2}_{t} = \omega + \alpha_{1} \varepsilon^{2}_{t-1} + \alpha_{2} \varepsilon^{2}_{t-2} + \dots + \alpha_{p} \varepsilon^{2}_{t-p} \qquad (4) \qquad \text{with } 0 \le \alpha, \ 0 \le \omega,$$

where

 $\sigma^2_{t:}$ is the conditional covariance of the day t ϵ^2 : standardized residuals of previous days ω : intercept coefficient

Ding et al (1993) suggested that since there is no clear evidence that the conditional variance is a linear function of lagged squared returns, the Asymmetric Power ARCH model could be use in order to estimate VaR accurately and its equation should be the following:

$$\sigma_t^{\delta} = a_0 + \sum_{i=1}^q (|\varepsilon_{t-i}| - \gamma_i \varepsilon_{t-i})^{\delta} a_i + \sum_{i=1}^p b_i \sigma_{t-i}^{\delta}$$
(5)

As far as the APARCH models are concerned, Giot and Laurent (2003a,b) on their findings suggest that this model, when it is used with a skewed Student distribution, can calculate VaR in a more accurate way because the exception rates are approximately equal to the expected ones in different confidence levels. This is consistent with the findings of Huang and Lin (2004). To this conclusion, they added that for lower confidence level the normal distribution should be used, while for higher levels the Student distribution is more appropriate. Another research conducted by Degiannakis (2004) concluded that APARCH model and especially the Fractional Integrated APARCH is better when it comes to the calculation of VaR and the tomorrows' realized volatility. Another important outcome in which Guermat and Harris (2002) and Billio and Pelizzon (2000) have concluded is that when ARCH models are under the Student distribution they tend to overestimate VaR even if the confidence level is 99%. Furthermore Sajjad et al. (2008) suggests that a Markov-switching APARCH model, in which the persistence of volatility can have various values based on whether the volatility is big or not can lead to accurate VaR estimations.

2.2 Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedastic Models

In an effort to find the best model, researchers, starting with Bollerslev, have turned to GARCH (Generalized Autoregressive Conditional Heteroskedastic) models. In their work Bali and Theodossiou (2006) by using a combination of the generalized Student distribution with 10 GARCH specifications concluded that TS-GARCH that was first introduced by Taylor (1986) and Schwert (1989), and the EGARCH introduced by Nelson (1991) were the most accurate models to calculate VaR. More specifically the Exponentially GARCH model was established in order to deal with the weakness of GARCH to take into account the asymmetry of the financial data and it is expressed by the following equation where the γ_i parameters account the asymmetry:

$$\log\left(\sigma_{t}^{2}\right) = a_{0} + \sum_{i=1}^{q} \left(a_{i} \left|\frac{\varepsilon_{t-i}}{\sigma_{t-i}}\right| + \gamma_{i} \frac{\varepsilon_{t-i}}{\sigma_{t-i}}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \left(b_{i} \log\left(\sigma_{t-i}^{2}\right)\right) \quad (6)$$

The conclusion is that models that do not take into account the asymmetries, are not sufficient and tend to underestimate the VaR, as has been supported by Brooks and Persand (2003a) and produce less accurate forecasts (Angelidis et al 2004).

The superiority of GARCH model was presented by Guermat and Harris (2002) who concluded, after having backtested their findings, that the GARCH models are better than the rest not only under the normal but also under the Student distribution. Furthermore Boucher et al. (2014) has reached to the decision that when it comes to the estimation of VaR Risk metrics and GARCH, that the parametric models, are among those that provide the most accurate results. Nieto and Ruiz (2010) conclude that the forecasts of VaR based on conditional variance using GARCH type models as well as symmetric leptokyrtic errors have adequate results. On the contrary, Koopman et al. (2005) suggest ARFIMAX, the fractionally integrated auto regressive moving average with exogenous variables, as a better model than GARCH and this conclusion was reached after a close research on VaR estimates of the S&P100. The effectiveness of GARCH models was pointed out also by Giot (2005). When it comes to the intraday horizon, he underlined that GARCH model under the Student distribution provided the most accurate VaR forecasts. In addition it is pointed out by his work that once the

volatility in an intraday basis was accounted, the results between the daily and intra- day VaR were similar.

In a more general basis Angelidis et al.(2004) indicates that despite the confidence levels and the distributions, the more flexible a GARCH model is, the better forecasts can provide regarding the VaR.

On the contrary, one of the main drawbacks of this category is the assumption of normality since it is inconsistent with the reality; risk factors do not follow the normal distribution and thus in general the results based on this category underestimate the VaR.

3. Non parametric models

3.1 Historical Simulation

Historical simulation (HS) is a quite popular method among the financial institutions as Perignon and Smith (2006) point out for calculating there can be found VaR. What's more Pérignon and Smith (2010b) stress out that almost 75% of the banks estimate their VaR by using this method. It applies current weights to a time series data of historical index returns and it consider that every day a profit or a loss is accounted. These profits and losses are then formed in a distribution; the percentile of this distribution is calculated according to the desired confidence level and then are rearranged and sorted in ascending order. One of the characteristic of this method is that it doesn't underlie any assumption for normality regarding the distribution, the VaR is calculated using the actual price movements and it can capture the non normalities of market return as Bangia, Diebold & Schuermann (1999) underlie. This is one of the main advantages of this non parametric method is that it doesn't make the assumption that the risk factors follow the normal distribution; this is a positive aspect since it provides the researchers with the ability to account for fat tails and skewness.

The equation (7), that is presented below describes the HS :

$$VaR_{t} = F_{a}^{-1}(\{y_{i}\}_{i=t-1-T}^{t-1})$$
(7)

where

 F_{α}^{-1} is the α th quantile function of the assumed distribution

Apart from that, another characteristic of the HS approach is the assumption that the distribution which is derived by past data can explain the distribution of the future returns.

According to literature, one of the major drawback of this so usual method is it's assumption that the returns are independent and identically distributed (i.d.d). HS places equal weight to the daily returns without taking into account the timing of the returns, that is recent and past returns are accounted the same when the VaR is calculated. Bollerslev (1986) points out that in periods of high or low volatility the clustering effect is present. This is not the case when the returns are not assumed i.i.d and it turns out to be more precise since the recent returns tend to depict better the volatility than older ones. As a result, Zikovic and Aktan (2011) introduced the weighted historical simulation (WHS) that place larger weights to the most recent observations. Another paper by Boudoukh, Richardson, and Whitelaw (1998) suggest a hybrid approach as an improvement of the HS since it generalize the HS so as to place more weight to the most recent returns. This is achieved by placing weights, the sum of which was equal to unity, but they were decaying exponentially. Once the weights are accounted the VaR is measured using the empirical CDF of returns. The idea of the BRW model is that it could be helpful especially during periods with high volatility for example in time of a crash since it provides better estimations regarding VaR. But Pritsker (2001) finds that both BRW as well as the HS pay attention only on the lower tail of the distribution and thus assume that if a change on the upper tail of the distribution takes place, it will not affect the lower tail. According to Pritsker (2001), the fact that either BRW or HS do not take into account changes in VaR is linked to the extent that VaR is possible to change over a time horizon without being detected. As it is shown, there is a 31% probability that increases in VaR will not be depicted in the model. A solution to this phenomenon would be the use of GARCH (1,1).

As empirical analysis reveals the correlation between the VaR estimates deriving from both the BRW and HS and the true VaR are quite high meaning that the methods tend to move together in the long run. The problem that is raised though is that the above methods do not capture in time the changes in volatility and therefore the VaR estimates are not that accurate.

What's more the conditional variances of the returns are not calculated by the Historical Simulation model. In an effort to deal with this limitation Hull and White (1998) suggest that the HS should be applicable by taking into consideration the volatility estimated with a use of a GARCH model.

After having presented the main characteristics of the models, it is constructive to compare them with other methods used like the variance – covariance method with equally weighted observations and variance covariance with exponentially declining weights as Pritsker (2001) has presented.

As far as the V-C with equally weighted observation, the conclusion is that it is very close to the models under scrutiny since they all share the same characteristic; that is they do not reckon time possible changes in volatility.

When the BRW and HS are compared with the V-C with exponentially declining weights the results differ since the V-C model tend to outperform the rest. The main reason for this is that the C-V model takes into account the changes in volatility regardless of whether there are profits or losses on the portfolio while the HS and BRW consider the changes only when losses take place. What is more, Pritsker (2001) points out that the exponentially weighting procedure share characteristics with the GARCH (1,1) model that is more accurate in forecasting VaR and therefore is more sensitive in changes in conditional volatility.

4. Semi parametric models

Although both parametric and non parametric models are quite spread when it comes to the VaR forecasting, the inefficiencies that exist have made it necessary to introduce more accurate models in order to capture market risk and VaR. A new category of models are the semi parametric such as the Filtered Historical that was first presented by Hull and White(1998) and Barone-Adesi et al. (1999) in an effort to preserve the positive aspects of both Historical Simulation and Conditional volatility models and to create a new approach. This effort has established the Filtered Historical Simulation (FHS) which is one of the most common semi parametric model.

4.1 Filtered Historical Simulation

FHS is a method that estimates the quantiles based on the Historical Simulation while it accounts the skewness and the kurtosis based on the use of GARCH methods, as O'Brien and Szerszen(2014) mention and calculates the variance by using a parametric volatility model; so as to combine the conditional heteroskedasticity and non-normality of the risk factors (Pritsker 2001).

This is achieved by bootstrapping returns within a conditional volatility model such as GARCH.

This method is considered to provide better forecasts as Barone-Adesi and Giannopoulos (1999) point out since it depicts the recent data of the market. Also the FHS provide the percentiles in the tails of the distribution and this is a major improvement compared to the HS. The aforementioned characteristic of FHS not only facilitates the researcher to account for the tails of the distribution since the data that must be collected regard a shorter period but also provide him with the opportunity to stress test since it accounts the whole distribution.

The above conclusion, regarding to the superiority of the FHS, has also been underlined by Angelidis and Benos (2006) who suggest that at higher confidence levels, FHS has more accurate results. In addition one of the main advantages of FHS is that takes into consideration the skewness the fat tails as well as the clustering effect.

The equation that best describes this semi parametric method is the following:

$$VaR_{t+1|t} = F_a \left(\left\{ z_{t+1-i|t} \right\}_{t=1}^T; \theta \right) \sigma_{t+1|t}$$
(8)

where:

Where $z_{t-i} = \varepsilon_{t-i} / \sigma_{t-i}$ and they are the standardized residuals

The advantage of the FHS compared to the remaining models is also described by Angelidis et al. (2006) who conclude that when the FHS is combined with an ARCH or

a GARCH volatility model, then the results are more accurate compared with the other methods used to forecast VaR since it depict faster changes in the market.

According to the literature there are two ways in order to present the returns. There is the devolatilising procedure according to which the returns are divided by an estimate of the volatility the day the return took place and the second is the revolatilising in which the returns are multiplied with an estimate of the day that VaR was measured. These procedures present how the filtering can affect aspects of the distribution like skewness and kurtosis. One of the characteristic of FHS concerning the margins is that when the volatility is high the margin will be higher and vice versa. Gurrola-Perez& Murphy (2015) and this happens since this method gives emphasis on the current condition of the market. That is the reason why the Filtered Historical Simulation outperforms the Historical Simulation at any confidence level.

4.2 Extreme Value Theory

Extreme Value Theory is another semi parametric model that is commonly used in order to calculate VaR. According to Jorion (2007) it is a branch of statistics tailor that has been introduced in order to overcome the difficulties arising by the extreme events. Jorion (2007) points out that EVT is applicable only on the tails of a distribution since it estimates the extreme events making this property the main advantage of this method. One of the characteristics of the EVT is that is not difficult to be implemented since a Student distribution with 4 to 6 degrees of freedom can provide all the necessary elements and lead to accurate forecasts. Chan and Gray (2006) inferred the above after having tested EVT with other famous both parametric and non parametric models. The EVT is expressed using the following equation (9).

$$VaR_{t+1|t} = \sigma_{t+1|t} u \left(\frac{a}{T_u/T}\right)^{-\tau}$$
(9)

where

α: confidence level

 τ : Hill estimator of the tail index

 T_u : number of observations beyond the threshold u which is set to be 5% of the total sample size T

Silva and Mendes (2003) proposed that the EVT is more accurate in forecasting VaR; this conclusion was reached after having analyzed ten market indices in Asia. The returns were not under the normal distribution and therefore the tails could be accounted with the use of EVT. Additionally in the papers of Cencay et. Al (2003) and Cencay and Selcuk (2004) it is proved that EVT performs better that the rest of the parametric and non parametric models at bigger quantiles, after having studied the VaR of nine stock markets of emerging countries. Likewise Bekiros and Georgoutsos (2005) suggest that EVT compared the predictive ability of various methods and have concluded that methods related to EVT like Peaks Over Threshold (OPT) as well as Blocks Maxima (BM) offer better forecasts. OPT is a method in which all the observations that exceed a given high threshold (u) are modeled separately, while BM is a method that divides the sample into m subsamples that contain n observations and takes the maximum of each subsample as Nieto and Ruiz (2015) explain. Another study that could be used additionally to the previous ones is that of Jesus et al (2013). This paper has focused on the risk of foreign exchange between Dollar and Peso and compared the results arising from both historical simulation and EVT. Once again the findings supported the opinion that VaR under the EVT methodology is better estimated.

But as all methods, EVT has some drawbacks as well. The asymptotic characteristics of the EVT lie on the fact that the returns are i.i.d which is usually not the case. In an effort to deal with this negative aspect many researchers have made propositions like the SEMPP, the Self Exciting Market Point Processes, since they could account the time between exceptions, Chavez-Demoulin, Davidson, and McNeil (2004) introduced the Hawkes POT model while Herrera and Schipp (2013) suggested the ACD POT model.

Overall, according to the literature presented the EVT is one of the most accurate methods of estimating VaR. However there are studies like Sener et al. (2012) who point out that VaR under EGARCH models tend to have better performance.

5. Backtesting

All the models that are being used in the literature in order to be considered trustworthy undergo checks that are known as model validation. There are many types of procedures like stress testing as well as backtesting. In this study emphasis will be given on the backtesting. According to Jorion (2007) "*Backtesting is a formal statistical framework that consists of verifying that actual losses are in line with projected losses and it involves the systematic comparison of the history of VaR forecasts with their associated portfolio returns"*. If the models proved to be inefficient then they must be reviewed. The importance of the backtesting can be realized since the Basel Committee promotes this procedure as a model validation to all financial institutions. In order for the procedure to fulfill the Basel requirements the backtesting should be based on at least 250 one-step-ahead VaR forecasts. A model is considered to be adequate when the number of observations is either more or less than the confidence level, since if the number of observations is either more or less than the confidence level, the risk is not correctly estimated. A VaR forecast is effective if it is conditionally unbiased (Nieto and Ruiz 2015), that is if the following equation holds:

$$E_{t-1}[I_t^a] = a$$
 (10)

There are many techniques that are being used by the researchers, but those proposed by Kupiec (1995) and Christoffersen (1998, 2003) are among the most widely used and therefore this study will focus mainly on these two methods. The benefits of the Backtesting procedure according to literature are plenty since the related parties can determine which model is effective in order to calculate VaR. As a result, when the VaR forecasts are accurate, the requirements of the Basel Committee for the Banking Supervision are fulfilled.

5.1 Unconditional coverage

One of the methods that will be presented will be the one introduced by Kupiec (1995). According to this test the number of the times that VaR cannot predict the realized losses follow a binomial distribution. The null hypothesis which states that the realized losses are equal to the calculated ones, H_0 : $E[I_t^{\alpha}] = \alpha$, should not be rejected. The equation that depicts this criterion is the following

$$LR_{UC} = 2\ln\left[1 - \left(\frac{N}{T}\right)^{T-N} \left(\frac{N}{T}\right)^{N}\right] - 2\ln[(1-\rho)^{T-N}\rho^{N}] \sim X^{2}$$
(11)

Where N is the proportion of failures, that is, the days in which the losses were higher than the VaR forecasts and follows a $\chi^2(1)$ distribution.

In addition as far as the unconditional coverage criterion is concerned, Escanciano & Pei (2012) point out that it is not consistent when it comes to detect the non optimal VaR forecasts based on HS and FHS methods. The weaknesses of the unconditional coverage have been also presented by de la Pena et al. (2007). In this paper the author proposes a switch between the null and alternative hypothesis in order to increase the odds of selecting the right model.

5.2 Independence coverage

Another notable backtesting criterion that is commonly presented in the literature is the one proposed by Christoffersen (1998,2003). It is a more sophisticated criterion since it measures if the total number of failures is statistically equal to with the expected ones. Apart from that it examines if the VaR violations are independent. In order to examine the first assumption the Kupie's (1995) equation should be used, while the second is calculated by a likelihood ratio statistic LR_{in} using the following equation:

$$LR_{IND} = 2(\ln(1-\pi^{01})^{n00}\pi_{01}^{n01}(1-\pi_{11})^{n10}\pi_{11}^{n11} - \ln((1-\pi_{0})^{n00+n10}\pi_{0}^{n01+n11})) \sim X_{1}^{2}$$
(12)

Where the null hypothesis is H_0 : $E[I^{\alpha}_{t} I I^{\alpha}_{t-1}] = \alpha$.

5.3 Conditional coverage

The conditional coverage is a combination of the above backtesting criteria and the likelihood ratio statistic is the following

$$LR_{CC} = LR_{IND} + LR_{UC}$$
(13)

Each statistic follows the $\chi^2(1)$ distribution while their combination (CC) follows a $\chi^2(2)$.

The aforementioned tests help the researchers determine whether the model is accurate or not, but this procedure is not always easy since many methods at the end are not characterized as trustworthy (Angelidis and Degiannakis 2007). Backtesting is a difficult procedure and therefore many were the researchers who tried to implement improvements by introducing new models. One of them is the procedure suggested by Lopez (1999) which is considered to be the second stage, after the implementation of the two criteria. Lopez suggested a new method that would base the VaR evaluation on a loss function. The idea behind this model is to provide a close to reality utility function that would take into account more than one volatility forecasting technique. For this purpose the distance between the failures, if a violation happened, should be measured. The model is described by the following equation (14).

$$\Psi_{t+1} = \begin{cases} \left(y_{t+1} - VaR_{t+1|t} \right)^2 & \text{if a violation takes place} \\ 0 & \text{otherwhise} \end{cases}$$
(14)

where:

 Ψ : the total loss value

The VaR model that produces the most accurate forecasts would be the one that minimizes the total loss value.

Although the backtesting is a helpful tool in order to find the most appropriate and effective model, Escanciano and Olmo (2010), stress out that both conditional and independence procedure can provide with wrong results since they do not take into consideration the parametric estimation. In order to overcome this weakness they proposed a dynamic parametric VaR.

A very interesting outcome presented by Alexander and Sheedy (2008) after having backtested the Historical Simulation, one of the most commonly used methods for estimating VaR, is that it is not that effective in many cases and therefore it is not suitable when it comes to stress testing.

6. Expected Shortfall

VaR is considered to be an accurate method for measuring the market risk and the Basel Committee urge all he financial institutions to calculate VaR. However, it still tends to have some weaknesses. Artzner et al (1997, 1999) concludes that in a portfolio, the overall VaR estimation could be misleading, since computing the individual VaRs and then adding them up may lead to underestimations. In the same direction Angelidis and Skiadopoulos (2008) point out that VaR is not a coherent measure of risk. A measure of risk should fulfill four properties in order to be considered coherent, that is to have sub-additivity, homogeneity, monotonicity and risk free condition. (Angelidis and Degiannakis 2007).

The limitations of VaR have been lined up by O'Brien and Szerszen (2014) since it cannot provide with information in the case that the potential loss is bigger that the forecasted VaR and account for tail risk.

In order to overcome the weaknesses of VaR, Expected Shortfall (ES) was introduced. ES is a more conservative measure of risk as it pays more attention on the less profitable outcomes and it is defined as the average loss over the losses that have exceeded VaR and its equation is depicted below:

$$ES(a) = E[y_t|y_t \le -VaR(a)]$$
(15)

Furthermore, Basak and Shapiro (2001) proposed the limited expected losses-based risk management (LEL-RM), a model that put more weight on the expected losses, once they take place.

ES provide information regarding a possible loss, bigger than the forecasted VaR, making it an accurate measure of risk. In most cases the ES is calculated using the past Profits and Losses under a GARCH model. The study of O'Brien and Szerszen (2014) reveals that during pre crisis periods the estimates are quite accurate, although this is not the case in periods of high volatility where they tend to be understated.

On the other hand Expected Shortfall do not come without a cost. Yamai and Yoshiba (2005) cite that in order for the ES to provide the same accurate forecasts as the VaR,

the use of a more data and a bigger sample is required. Last but not least according to their study in cases of a heavy tailed distribution, the ES has low accuracy.

7. Empirical Investigation and Methodology

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the predictive ability of VaR methods regarding the European Stock Exchanges the years that followed the burst of the global economic crisis of 2008. In order to do so, the dissertation focuses on the closing prices of six European countries that were split into two groups. The first group consists of the three largest European economies; Germany, France and United Kingdom. The second group contains European countries that have been under EU- IMF rescue programs and more specifically Iceland, Portugal and Ireland. The countries that were under a rescue program faced a number of changes in their economies. When the global financial crisis burst, their market volatility increased dramatically and so were the spreads, leading to an increase in the borrowing rates. As a result, the countries' bonds have stopped being traded in the financial markets since the countries of the first Group, that is the richest countries in Europe, although their economies were influenced by the global financial crisis, their economies and their stock indices didn't undergo such a dramatic change.

This dissertation will try to investigate whether the severe conditions that some European countries faced during the late financial crisis as well as their participation in a program lead to differences between the two Groups when it comes to the VaR calculation.

Germany is the richest country in the Europe and despite the latest financial crisis the country's GDP was increased 1,7% during 2015. Similarly, French GDP was higher in 2015 by approximately 1,2% compared to the previous year, making France the third bigger economy of the EU. Last but not least, the UK is the second larger economy in the Europe and has been the fastest growing economy of G7 countries for four years in a row.

On the contrary countries like Portugal, Iceland and Ireland have seen their economies shrinking and facing even the danger of default after the burst of the 2008 financial crisis. The results of the crisis in Portugal started in 2010. The political instability and

the increase of interest rates and CDS urged Portugal to turn to the EU and the IMF for a rescue package of 78€ billion in order to stabilize the economy. The country exited the €78 billion program in November 2014.

Ireland at the end of 2007 was considered to be the 4th richest country based on the GDP per capita, but the collapse of Lehman Brothers and the extended financial exposure that the country had, lead Iceland to one of the worst economic crisis of the country's modern history. The nationalization of Banks increased the country's debt dramatically while the capitalization of the Icelandic stock exchange was decreased by 90%. On November 2008 the country agreed with the IMF for a package of $1,5 \in$ billion and made a $2,5 \in$ package agreement with Norway, Sweden Denmark and Finland. On 31^{st} of August 2011 the program was successfully completed.

Ireland was another European country that faced the danger of collapse and turned to a bailout program in order to avoid bankruptcy. According to the Central Statistic Office (CSO), Ireland was the first member of the euro zone that faced recession. On November 28 2010, Ireland made a $85 \in$ billion agreement with EFSF and the IMF in order to deal with the crisis. On December 2013 Ireland exited the bailout program and managed to have access to the financial markets.

The purpose of the study is to shed light on whether the performance of the countries' economies the last years affects the predictability of the VaR methods. The sample size is a very important factor and in the literature, there can be found many papers that try to conclude which sample size is more appropriate. There are those in favor of big samples such as Hendricks (1996), Vlaar (2000) and Daníelsson (2002) who suggest that when the sample size is bigger, the VaR estimations will reflect the reality better. On the other hand, Hope (1998) points out that choosing smaller samples is better since the estimation based on smaller samples is more accurate. Frey and Michaud (1997) seem to agree with this opinion since according to their paper small samples depict better the changes that might occur.

The horizon under scrutiny in this dissertation ranges between 1st January 2000 and 29th July 2016 for the five out of six countries. Regarding Iceland the data is between 1st January 2001 and 29th July 2016. The data set was divided into two periods. The first, between 1st January 2000 to 31st December 2007, was used for the in -sample analysis. The second starting from January 1, 2008 and ending in July 29 2016 was used in order

to forecast the VaR methodologies. The year 2008 was set as the starting point of the out of sample analysis, since then the burst of the latest economic crisis took place. The non trading days were excluded from the data as well as the missing values and missing-zero values in order to add more accuracy, the daily returns were collected and used since they can capture better the conditions on the European Stock Exchanges. Furthermore by using daily returns the phenomenon of noise and excessive variance could be reduced. In addition, the adjusted closing prices were used, since they provide a better insight regarding the corporate actions that took place before the opening of the Stock Exchange. Apart from that the models were estimated with log returns since their use offer benefits to the researchers, such as numerical stability since it deals with the arithmetic underflow as well as time additivity.

8. Data Analysis

8.1 Descriptive statistics

The analysis begins with the Descriptive Statistic which is a useful tool in the estimation of VaR since it is calculated by taking into consideration the standard deviation as well as the mean of the countries' indices. Table 1 summarizes all the relevant information regarding the descriptive statistics for all the countries that are examined. The mean, that corresponds to the average return that the European Stocks had, for all of the six countries is close to zero meaning that there is no predictability in the market; there are no persistent long term positive or negative returns. In the case of France, UK and Ireland the mean is negative. Iceland appears to have the biggest return approximately 0,089%, while the standard deviation provides info regarding their volatility in the time horizon examined.

The analysis also reveals that the returns of the Indexes are not following the normal distribution, since the skewness is different than zero and the kurtosis is bigger than three. What's more the Jarque–Bera test confirms the non normality of the distributions. According to the test the rejection of the null hypothesis (H_0) indicate non normality, while the rejection of the alternative one (H_1) indicates normality. As it can be seen, the p value is smaller than the critical value of 0,05 meaning that the H_0 hypothesis is rejected in all countries.

	Germany	France	UK	Iceland	Ireland	Portugal
Mean	0,0000877	-0,0000258	-0,0000239	0,0008900	-0,0002410	0,0000466
Median	0,0007940	0,0003370	0,0004120	0,0011900	0,0009690	0,0002910
Maximum	0,0755270	0,0700230	0,0590260	0,0504360	0,0354050	0,0429760
Minimum	-0,0665220	-0,0767810	-0,0588530	-0,0447800	-0,0590600	-0,0463170
Std Dev	0,0154920	0,0139680	0,0113660	0,0086620	0,0118000	0,0092800
Skewness	0,0457990	-0,0927390	-0,2227210	-0,5286370	0,6321350	-0,4202930
Kurtosis	5,7529040	5,9616490	6,0733020	6,6159080	5,1792240	5,9339030
Jarque- Bera	642,3550	748,1232	812,8755	1021,2770	532,1234	782,7954
Probability	0,0000	0,0000	0,0000	0,0000	0,0000	0,0000
		6.1 1.11.1		-		-

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of the daily log returns



The Figure1 below present the distributions of all countries.

Figure 1: Frequency Distribution

In order to provide an insight into the stock Indexes returns, the study provides also a plot of the Returns for the years under scrutiny. As it is presented in the below Figures there seem to be a pattern regarding the Returns. Periods characterized by high volatility are to be followed by periods of high volatility as well. Similarly periods of low

volatility are followed by periods that tend to have low volatility. In addition an interesting finding is that the returns are continuously compounded. This pattern is visible on the Figures presented for all the countries. One interesting point is presented in the plot graph of Iceland where on October 2008 there has been a significant decrease. On October 13th 2008, there was observed a large scale decrease in the index return from a 2771, 16 to a 919, 25 because Iceland's central bank has abandoned an attempt to peg its currency with the euro and dollar. On Figure 2 the plot of returns can be seen.



Figure 2: Plot of returns

Another important matter for which the data were tested is the whether they are stationary or they have unit root. The meaning of stationarity is quite important when it comes to the time series data since it can affect the behavior of the data. If the data are non stationary and a for example a shock occurred, its persistence would last forever. In order to make sure whether the data are stationary the Dickey Fuller test was used, according to which the null hypothesis (H_0) indicates unit roots while the alternative

(H₁) indicates stationarity. Figure 3 below depicts the results according to which the time series for all the six countries are stationary since the null hypothesis is rejected (p<0.05).

UK		
Augmented Dickey Ful	ler Unit root	test
Null Hypothesis: there is ur	nit root	
Exogenous: Contstant		
Lag Length: 2 (Automatic -	based on SIC	,
maxlag= 25		
	t- statistic	Prob*
Augmented Duckey Fuller		
test stat	-29,5810	0,0000
* MacKinnon (1996) one si	ded p- values	5

Portu	ıgal	
Augmented Dickey F	uller Unit root	t test
Null Hypothesis: there is	s unit root	
Exogenous: Contstant		
Lag Length: 2(Automation	: - based on SI	С,
maxlag= 25		
	t- statistic	Prob*
Augmented Duckey		
Fuller test stat	-23,8755	0,0000
* MacKinnon (1996) one	e sided p- valu	es

France	<u>è</u>	
Augmented Dickey Ful	ler Unit root	test
Null Hypothesis: there is u	nit root	
Exogenous: Contstant		
Lag Length: 0 (Automatic -	based on SIC	2,
maxlag= 25		
	t- statistic	Prob*
Augmented Duckey Fuller		
test stat	-45,9201	0,0001
* MacKinnon (1996) one si	ded p- value	S

Germany		
Augmented Dickey Fuller	Unit root	test
Null Hypothesis: there is unit	root	
Exogenous: Contstant Lag Length: 0(Automatic - bas _maxlag= 25	ed on SIC,	,
t-	statistic	Prob*
Augmented Duckey Fuller		
test stat -	46,7089	0,0001

* MacKinnon (1996) one sided p- values

Irela	nd	
Augmented Dickey F	uller Unit roc	ot test
Null Hypothesis: there is	unit root	
Exogenous: Contstant		
Lag Length: 0 (Automation	c - based on S	ыс,
maxlag= 25		
	t- statistic	Prob*
Augmented Duckey		
Fuller test stat	-41,4613	0,0000
* MacKinnon (1996) one	sided p- valu	ies

Figure 3: Dickey- Fuller test results

Iceland	ł	
Augmented Dickey Full	er Unit root	test
Null Hypothesis: there is ur	nit root	
Exogenous: Contstant		
Lag Length: 0(Automatic - k	based on SIC	,
maxlag= 25		
	t- statistic	Prob*
Augmented Duckey Fuller		
test stat	-42,4333	0,0000
* MacKinnon (1996) one si	ded p- value	s

The first method presented for calculating VaR in this dissertation is the Variance-Covariance, since is one of the simplest one. This method takes into account the closing prices of the Stock Exchanges and based on the probability theory calculates the maximum loss that the Index could face within a day. It is named Variance Covariance method since it uses the standard deviation of the closing prices and assuming that the normal distribution is followed, the VaR is calculated using a certain confidence level. Table 2 presents the VaR for the countries under scrutiny.

VaR _25					
Var 2,5	54% -2,4	8% -2,0	2% -2,04	% -2,33	% -3,37%

Table 2: VaR results under the Variance Covariance method

As far as the VaR is concerned, it was calculated by taking into account the mean and the variance of each country while the percentile that was used is 1,645 that correspond to a 95% confidence interval. The VaR results represent the maximum loss that is expected to take place in the countries under scrutiny based on the confidence level and time horizon presented above. It can be deducted that as a percentage it is close to all examined countries irrespective of whether the country belongs to the first or the second Group. The only divergence that can be observed regards Iceland indicating that it the maximum expected loss is the bigger among the scrutinized countries.

Overall, although the Variance Covariance method is easy to implement it is not the appropriate method to forecast VaR. This was concluded after having applied the backtesting procedure by using the three main criteria found in the literature. The first is the one proposed by Kiupiec and is known as unconditional coverage. In addition there is the one proposed by Cristoffersen and it is called independence coverage. Last but not least the combination of both is the conditional coverage. The conclusions derived are the following; regarding the three biggest economies (Germany, France and UK) the method is rejected at all significance levels by using all the three criteria. As far as the second Group is concerned the V-C method is also rejected in Portugal, and Iceland, with the only exception to be the case of Ireland where it is rejected at a 99% confidence level but not at the 95%. This outcome reveals that V-C method could not be used accurately in order to forecast VaR for the European Stock Exchanges during the latest financial crisis. In addition, the participation of a country to a rescue package does

not seem to affect the predictive ability of VaR. Since many times is the above method underestimates the true VaR, more methods should be implemented in order to make accurate estimations.

8.2 Historical Simulation

Historical Simulation is also a commonly used method for forecasting VaR, since it is easy to implement. The results presented below tend to differ from those of the V-C method, since there are differences in the HS VaR forecast among countries in the same Group. Specifically UK's HS VaR is significantly lower than those of Germany and France which are identical. The same applies to the countries of the second Group. Portugal's HS VaR is lower compared to VaR of Ireland and Iceland.

As far as the examined European Stock Exchanges are concerned, the method seems to be inadequate when it comes to the forecasting of VaR. More specifically, regarding 95% confidence level in German, French and UK index the method is rejected by all the three criteria. At a 99% confidence level it is not rejected for the whole Group under all the criteria. The results for the countries of the second Group indicate that the method is rejected at all confidence levels. That means that the method cannot provide accurate forecasts in countries that have faced severe economic problems during the crisis. The following Table 3 summarizes the VaR results for all the countries. The positive aspect of the HS VaR method is that it doesn't take for granted the normality of the returns distributions; this was presented above in the descriptive statistics since none country follows the normal distribution. Therefore fat tails and skewness can be accounted.

The Figure 4 below depicts the HS VaR at a significance level of 5% for the examined Group of the countries analyzed above, while the Tables provide the graphs for the two Groups. The analysis reveals that the returns of the Indexes are not following the normal distribution, as the V- C method assumes, since the skewness is not different than zero and the kyrtosis is not equal to three. The HS VaR for the countries represents the maximum loss that can occur at a 95% confidence level and at the specified time horizon. In addition Table 3 depicts the ongoing HS VaR for the time under scrutiny.

	Germany	France	UK	Portugal	Ireland	Iceland
HS VaR 5%	-3,40%	-3,40%	-2,62%	-2,72%	-3,26%	-3,43%

Table 3: VaR results under the Historical Simulation method

Apart from that, the below Figure 4 depicts the graphical presentation of the HS VaR.



Figure 4: HS VaR graph

8.3 Filtered Historical Simulation

In an effort to overcome the disadvantages of the Historical Simulation, the researchers have turned to Filtered Historical Simulation which combines the positive aspects of both parametric and non parametric models. Since it uses a combination of econometric models and historical returns, the risk forecasts are derived from the tails of the distribution. FHS uses a combination of nonlinear econometric models and past returns to build the probability distribution of possible values that the asset (risk factor) could take in the days ahead. Risk estimates are directly derived from the tails of the distribution. One of the major advantages of this method is that it overcomes to a great extend the biasness that is easy to appear when it comes to the use of historical data.

The FHS was used in order to make forecasts regarding VaR in the years that followed the burst of the global financial crisis and that is why an out of sample analysis was undergone .Graph 5 depicts the FHS VaR.



Figure 5: FHS VaR graph

8.4 Expected Shortfall

The Expected Shortfall was introduced as a new approach for calculating VaR in order to overcome the inefficiencies of the VaR methods. ES provides the probability under a certain confidence level that the loss will be greater than that of VaR. It is a more conservative way of calculating market risk since the less profitable outcomes are given more weight. The Expected Shortfall is calculated by the weighted average of the VaR, as well as the losses that are bigger than VaR. The literature review shows that during the last few years, ES was increased in popularity since the method satisfies the subadditivity property as Chen (2008) suggests.

Country	Expected Shortfall
Germany	-4,61%
France	-4,49%
UK	-3,76%
Portugal	-3,82%
Ireland	-4,67%
Iceland	-4,89%

Table 4 below summarizes the results for the scrutinized countries

Table 4: Expected Shortfall

The main conclusion is that Expected Shortfall does calculate the expected loss in a more conservative way. The results are significantly higher compared to the VaR methods presented above. It means that according to this method the loss that the European Stock Exchanges could face exceeds the loss forecasted by VaR. The only outcome that remains common when compared with the HS VaR is that both the UK from the Group of the richest countries and Portugal from the second Group continue to have a lower ES percentage as compared to the other countries of their Groups.

8.5 EVIEWS results

The econometric package that is used in this dissertation is E views, which is widely used in research especially in the fields of economics. In the following sections the results of the econometric analysis are presented.

8.5.1 ARCH

ARCH is a non linear model that is commonly used in finance when it comes to time series data. The main advantage of the ARCH models is that they do not assume that the variance is constant and therefore they can describe how the variance of the errors evolves through time (Brooks, 2008). In addition, the ARCH models can depict

volatility pooling that is the tendency of large changes to be followed by equally large ones. In all the models presented in this dissertation the lag length is 1 and the Autoregressive model was a first model AR(1). More specifically, below the ARCH(1)with AR(1) was used.

The p-values of the ARCH models can make researchers decide whether to reject the null hypothesis that assumes that the coefficient values are zero or not. The F statistic will be used in order to test whether the H_0 is rejected or not. If the p-value is smaller than the critical one, then the null hypothesis is rejected. More specifically the hypothesis for the ARCH models is presented below.

 H_0 : The coefficients α are zero (homoskedasticity)

H₁: The coefficients are different from zero (heteroskedasticity)

In the Table 5 that follow the results for the countries are presented.

Table 5: ARCH(1) with AR(1) results

Dependent Variable: GERMANY Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:11 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 14 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1) Dependent Variable: FRANCE Method: ML - ARCH (Marguardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:01 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 10 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2

Coefficient

2.02E-05

-0.012612

0.000148

0.250811

0.000303

-0.000191

0.013959

0.394410

5840.056

2.016421 -.01

Variance Equation

z-Statistic

0.071580

-0.608102

38.68923

8.423740

Prob.

0.9429

0.5431

0.0000

0.0000

7.79E-06

0.013958

-5.761161

-5.750078

-5.757094

Std. Error

0.000282

0.020740

3.83E-06

0.029774

Mean dependent var

S.D. dependent var

Akaike info criterion

Hannan-Quinn criter

Schwarz criterion

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable
C AR(1)	0.000637 -0.031803	0.000242 0.024513	2.631536 -1.297379	0.0085 0.1945	C AR(1)
	Variance	Equation			
C RESID(-1)^2 GARCH(-1)	1.97E-06 0.087057 0.902616	4.83E-07 0.011240 0.011798	4.074768 7.745390 76.50646	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	C RESID(-1)^2
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.000009 -0.000503 0.015503 0.486483 5986.265 2.007826	0.011798 76.50646 Mean dependent var S.D. dependent var Akaike info criterion Schwarz criterion Hannan-Quinn criter.		8.66E-05 0.015500 -5.904506 -5.890652 -5.899422	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat
Inverted AR Roots	03				Inverted AR Roots

Dependent Variable: UK
Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution
Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:06
Sample (adjusted): 2 2027
Included observations: 2026 after adjustments
Convergence achieved after 10 iterations
Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7)
$GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^{2}$

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	7.87E-05 -0.064586	0.000205 0.016885	0.383804 -3.824930	0.7011 0.0001
	Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2	8.77E-05 0.345053	2.47E-06 0.034479	35.51894 10.00765	0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.003967 0.003475 0.011335 0.260063 6294.080 2.003973	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var int var iterion rion n criter.	-2.42E-06 0.011355 -6.209359 -6.198275 -6.205292
Inverted AR Roots	06			

Dependent Variable: ICELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marguardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:03 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 351 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.			
C AR(1)	0.004121 0.688105	0.000299 0.007740	13.76923 88.90758	0.0000 0.0000			
Variance Equation							
C RESID(-1)^2	3.47E-05 6.466814	1.45E-06 0.105594	23.94459 61.24213	0.0000 0.0000			
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.396164 -0.396854 0.032108 2.086633 5525.608 2.865562	Mean dependent var S.D. dependent var Akaike info criterion Schwarz criterion Hannan-Quinn criter.		-0.000584 0.027167 -5.450749 -5.439665 -5.446682	33		
Inverted AR Roots	.69						

Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:05 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 9 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)*2				Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:06 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 12 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)*2					
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000332 0.090142	0.000253 0.021136	1.312181 4.264785	0.1895 0.0000	C AR(1)	0.000242 0.109826	0.000215 0.019030	1.125289 5.771098	0.2605 0.0000
	Variance I	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2	9.46E-05 0.217175	2.43E-06 0.026675	38.99993 8.141526	0.0000 0.0000	C RESID(-1)^2	5.92E-05 0.330931	1.67E-06 0.033997	35.47551 9.734184	0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.006341 0.005850 0.010902 0.240543 6324.056 2.017632	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz criter Hannan-Quin	lent var nt var iterion rion n criter.	0.000138 0.010934 -6.238949 -6.227866 -6.234882	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.006948 0.006457 0.009191 0.170987 6701.632 2.043380	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz criter Hannan-Quin	ent var nt var terion ion n criter.	5.26E-05 0.009221 -6.611680 -6.600597 -6.607613
Inverted AR Roots	.09				Inverted AR Roots	.11			

Dependent Variable: PORTUGAL

According to the ARCH model above, at a 5% confidence level, the coefficient's Resid(-1)² p-value is lower than the critical one for all countries indicating that the H₀ is rejected and therefore there is heteroskedasticity. Since the H₁ cannot be rejected it means that at least one of the coefficients is significant. Therefore a GARCH model should be implemented.

8.5.2 GARCH

Dependent Variable: IRELAND

The GARCH model that was first introduced by Bollerslev (1986), allows the conditional variance to depend on its previous own lags. The positive aspect of GARCH models is that they are more parsimonious and avoid over fitting. This section describes the results for GARCH (1,1) model that can be seen in the following tables.

The hypotheses for the models are the following:

- H₀: The coefficients are not statistically significant
- H₁: The coefficients are statistically significant

Table 6: GARCH(1,1) results

Dependent Variable: GERMANY Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:11 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 14 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)*2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1) Dependent Variable: FRANCE Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:11 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 11 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)*2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1)

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000637 -0.031803	0.000242 0.024513	2.631536	0.0085 0.1945
	Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2 GARCH(-1)	1.97E-06 0.087057 0.902616	4.83E-07 0.011240 0.011798	4.074768 7.745390 76.50646	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.000009 -0.000503 0.015503 0.486483 5986.265 2.007826	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	8.66E-05 0.015500 -5.904508 -5.890652 -5.899422
Inverted AR Roots	03			

Variable Coefficient Std. Error z-Statistic Prob. 0.000487 0.000223 2.179432 0.0293 С AR(1) -0.044169 0.024277 -1.8193740.0689 Variance Equation 1.59E-06 4.27E-07 3.724623 0.0002 C RESID(-1)^2 0.081517 0.009927 8.211358 0.0000 GARCH(-1) 0.909442 0.010760 84.52184 0.0000 R-squared -0.001626 Mean dependent var 7.79E-06 . Adjusted R-squared -0.002120 S.D. dependent var 0.013958 0.013973 S.E. of regression Akaike info criterion -6.057226 Sum squared resid 0.395171 Schwarz criterion -6.043371 Log likelihood 6140.970 Hannan-Quinn criter. -6.052142 Durbin-Watson stat 1.952488 Inverted AR Roots -.04

Dependent Variable: UK Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:12 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 11 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1) Dependent Variable: ICELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:11 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 111 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1)

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000329 -0.068769	0.000170 0.023952	1.926793 -2.871083	0.0540 0.0041	C AR(1)	0.000966 0.041771	0.000165 0.023586	5.859353 1.770974	0.0000 0.0766
	Variance	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2 GARCH(-1)	1.43E-06 0.110202 0.878946	3.94E-07 0.012256 0.013296	3.618941 8.991301 66.10634	0.0003 0.0000 0.0000	C RESID(-1)^2 GARCH(-1)	-1.00E-07 0.171520 0.896357	4.70E-08 0.004652 0.001305	-2.130636 36.87097 686.6654	0.0331 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.002931 0.002438 0.011341 0.260333 6592.692 1.993893	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	-2.42E-05 0.011355 -6.503151 -6.489297 -6.498068	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.000125 -0.000369 0.027172 1.494360 6391.658 1.961170	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quir	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	-0.000584 0.027167 -6.304696 -6.290842 -6.299613
Inverted AR Roots	07				Inverted AR Roots	.04			

Dependent Variable: IRELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:12 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments

Convergence achieved after 20 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1)

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000723 0.055027	0.000230 0.024145	3.145097 2.279019	0.0017 0.0227
	Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2 GARCH(-1)	3.41E-06 0.097464 0.876787	4.75E-07 0.010268 0.011781	7.168019 9.491992 74.42609	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.003408 0.002916 0.010918 0.241253 6461.982 1.942379	Mean depende S.D. depende Akaike info crit Schwarz criter Hannan-Quint	ent var ht var terion ion h criter.	0.000138 0.010934 -6.374118 -6.360264 -6.369035
Inverted AR Roots	.06			

Dependent Variable: P	ORTUGAL		
Method: ML - ARCH (Ma	arquardt) - Norm:	al distribution	
Date: 10/08/16 Time: 1	12:12		
Sample (adjusted): 2.2	027		
Included observations:	2026 after adjus	tments	
Convergence achieved	after 19 iteration	s	
Presample variance: ba	ackcast (parame	ter = 0.7)	
GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*F	RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*GARCH(-1))
Variahla	Coefficient	Std. Error	7- Sto
Convergence achieved Presample variance: ba GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*P Variable	after 19 iteration ackcast (parame RESID(-1)^2 + C(ter = 0.7) (5)*GARCH(-1) Std. Error)

C AR(1)	0.000651 0.079816	0.000183 0.022998	3.555548 3.470483	0.0004 0.0005				
Variance Equation								
C RESID(-1)^2 GARCH(-1)	8.87E-07 0.080293 0.909511	1.93E-07 0.008290 0.009328	4.599657 9.686035 97.50570	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000				
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.004166 0.003674 0.009204 0.171466 6895.325 1.979243	Mean dependent var S.D. dependent var Akaike info criterion Schwarz criterion Hannan-Quinn criter.		5.26E-05 0.009221 -6.801900 -6.788046 -6.796816				
Inverted AR Roots	.08							

z-Statistic

Prob.

35

To sum up, all the GARCH (1,1), except the Iceland's AR(1) coefficient, are statistically significant at a 5% significance level, since p critical is lower than the pvalues of their coefficients and hence the null hypothesis is rejected. An important result is that the null is rejected in both Groups indicating that the participation in a rescue program didn't affect the results.

8.5.3 EGARCH

The EGARCH model that was introduced by Nelson (1991) is another form of the GARCH model that tries to spot volatility clustering. More specifically EGARCH models can be found useful in cases where positive and negative shocks of equal magnitude do not affect volatility in the same way. The analysis of EGARCH (1,1) for the countries under scrutiny is presented below.

Table 7: EGARCH(1,1) results

Dependent Variable: GE Method: ML - ARCH (Ma Date: 10/08/16 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2 20 Included observations: : Convergence achieved Presample variance: ba LOG(GARCH) = C(3) + (*RESID(-1)/@SQR ⁻¹	RMANY rquardt) - Norn 2:17 2026 after adju after 18 iteratio ckcast (param C(4)*ABS(RES F(GARCH(-1))	nal distribution Istments Ins eter = 0.7) ID(-1)/@SQRT(+ C(6)*LOG(GA	Dependent Variable: F Method: ML - ARCH (M Date: 10/08/16 Time: Sample (adjusted): 2.2 Included observations: Convergence achievec Presample variance: b LOG(GARCH) = C(3) + *RESID(-1)/@SOF	RANCE arquardt) - Nom 12:16 027 2026 after adju l after 8 iteration ackcast (param C(4)*ABS(RES TT(GARCH(-1))	nal distribution Istments eter = 0.7) ID(-1)/@SQRTi + C(6)*LOG(G#	(GARCH(-1))) RCH(-1))) + C(5)		
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000270 -0.021503	0.000234 0.023961	1.152825 -0.897391	0.2490 0.3695	C AR(1)	0.000115 -0.042429	0.000208 0.024123	0.553989 -1.758879	0.5796 0.0786
	Variance	Equation				Variance I	Equation		
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6)	-0.256141 0.116902 -0.104636 0.981553	0.037048 0.020078 0.012070 0.003008	-6.913790 5.822471 -8.668771 326.3052	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6)	-0.211646 0.085248 -0.117560 0.984121	0.027804 0.016429 0.012298 0.002414	-7.612091 5.188896 -9.559456 407.6981	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.000979 0.000486 0.015496 0.486002 6017.079 2.031065	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz criter Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	8.66E-05 0.015500 -5.933938 -5.917313 -5.927837	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.000314 -0.000809 0.013964 0.394654 6184.688 1.958257	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	7.79E-06 0.013958 -6.099396 -6.082771 -6.093296
Inverted AR Roots	02				Inverted AR Roots	04			

0 N 0 9 1 0 F 1 0 1	Dependent Variable: UK Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:18 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 14 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) LOG(GARCH) = C(3) + C(4)*ABS(RESID(-1)/@SQRT(GARCH(-1))) + C(5) *RESID(-1)/@SQRT(GARCH(-1)) + C(6)*LOG(GARCH(-1))
--	---

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	-1.61E-05 -0.052171	0.000168 0.023041	-0.096155 -2.264289	0.9234 0.0238
	Variance	Equation		
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6)	-0.239581 0.091283 -0.129763 0.982305	0.030305 0.017463 0.012233 0.002673	-7.905671 5.227282 -10.60757 367.5109	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.003928 0.003436 0.011336 0.260073 6632.594 2.028093	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quir	dent var ent var iterion rion ni criter.	-2.42E-03 0.011355 -6.541554 -6.524929 -6.535454
Inverted AR Roots	05			

Dependent Variable: ICELAND

Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:17 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027

Included observations: 2026 after adjustments

Convergence a chieved after 18 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) LOG(GARCH) = C(3) + C(4)*ABS(RESID(-1)/@SQRT(GARCH(-1))) + C(5) *RESID(-1)/@SQRT(GARCH(-1)) + C(6)*LOG(GARCH(-1)))

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	
C AR(1)	-0.000416 0.189817	0.000470 0.014287	-0.883949 13.28572	0.3767 0.0000	
	Variance E	Equation			
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6)	-3.204258 0.298227 -1.124673 0.592422	0.002790 0.023186 0.016062 0.002660	-1148.658 12.86231 -70.02216 222.7508	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.013952 -0.014452 0.027363 1.515398 4894.406 2.257763	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz critei Hannan-Quin	lent var Int var iterion rion n criter.	-0.000584 0.027167 -4.825673 -4.809047 -4.819572	36
Inverted AR Roots	.19				

Dependent Variable: (RELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:17 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 21 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) LOG(GARCH) = C(3) + C(4)*ABS(RESID(-1)/@SQRT(GARCH(-1))) + C(5) *RESID(-1)/@SQRT(GARCH(-1)) + C(6)*LOG(GARCH(-1))					Dependent Variable: F Method: ML - ARCH (M Date: 10/08/16 Time: Sample (adjusted): 2.2 Included observations Convergence achieved Presample variance: b LOG(GARCH) = C(3) + *RESID(-1)/@SQF	ORTUGAL arquardt) - Norn 12:18 2027 : 2026 after adju 3 after 16 iteratio ackcast (param • C(4)*ABS(RES RT(GARCH(-1)) •	nal distribution stments ns eter = 0.7) ID(-1)/@SQRT + C(6)*LOG(G/	(GARCH(-1))) ARCH(-1))) + C(5)
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000426 0.039493	0.000216 0.023043	1.971876 1.713905	0.0486 0.0865	C AR(1)	0.000433 0.072945	0.000162 0.023063	2.668110 3.162833	0.0076 0.0016
	Variance	Equation				Variance I	Equation		
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6)	-0.493260 0.137311 -0.113647 0.958065	0.046335 0.016877 0.010438 0.004373	-10.64545 8.135856 -10.88808 219.0698	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6)	-0.463062 0.176469 -0.070899 0.966259	0.056627 0.017254 0.010162 0.004981	-8.177483 10.22783 -6.976664 194.0059	0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.004254 0.003762 0.010913 0.241048 6497.850 1.914786	Mean dependent var S.D. dependent var Akaike info criterion Schwarz criterion Hannan-Quinn criter.		0.000138 0.010934 -6.408539 -6.391914 -6.402439	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.006098 0.005607 0.009195 0.171134 6911.044 1.970157	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quir	lent var ent var iterion rion ın criter.	5.26E-05 0.009221 -6.816431 -6.799805 -6.810330
Inverted AR Roots	.04				Inverted AR Roots	.07			

The conclusion, as far as both Groups is concerned, is that the coefficients of the EGARCH(1,1) model are statistically significant at significance level 5%, since the p-values are smaller than the p critical which is 0,05.

8.5.4 APARCH

One of the main positive aspects of the APARCH model is that it can capture asymmetry in return volatility. The results of APARCH (1,1) for all the countries under scrutiny are presented below.

Table 8: APARCH(1,1) results

Dependent Variable: GE Method: ML - ARCH (Ma Date: 10/08/16 Time: 1 Sample (adjusted): 2 20 Included observations: 2 Convergence achieved - Presample variance: ba @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) + @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) + -1))^C(7) + C(6)*@S	ERMANY rquardt) - Norr 2:27 2026 after adju after 40 iteratic ckcast (param = C(3) + C(4)*(SQRT(GARCH	nal distribution Istments Ins eter = 0.7) ABS(RESID(-1) (-1))^C(7))) - C(5)*RES	Dependent Variable: F Method: ML - ARCH (M Date: 10/08/16 Time: Sample (adjusted): 2 2 Included observations: Convergence achieved Presample variance: b @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) -1))^c(7) + C(6)*@	RANCE arquardt) - Norr 12:26 : 2026 after adju I after 44 iteratic ackcast (param) = C(3) + C(4)*()SGRT(GARCH	nal distribution istments ins ieter = 0.7) ABS(RESID(-1) (-1))^C(7))) - C(5)*RES	ID(
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000208 -0.023147	0.000235 0.024294	0.888409 -0.952807	0.3743 0.3407	C AR(1)	5.15E-05 -0.046113	0.000205 0.024367	0.251026 -1.892401	0.8018 0.0584
	Variance	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6) C(7)	0.000106 0.055927 1.000000 0.930268 1.174868	0.000112 0.086198 2.500086 0.011099 0.219749	0.951548 0.648820 0.399986 83.81279 5.346407	0.3413 0.5165 0.6892 0.0000 0.0000	C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6) C(7)	0.000337 0.058938 0.999857 0.940389 0.878766	0.000252 0.007522 0.089830 0.008479 0.159030	1.335614 7.835850 11.13055 110.9074 5.525771	0.1817 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.001108 0.000615 0.015495 0.485940 6023.339 2.027903	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz criter Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	8.66E-05 0.015500 -5.939131 -5.919734 -5.932013	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.000452 -0.000947 0.013965 0.394708 6188.691 1.951208	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	7.79E-06 0.013958 -6.102360 -6.082964 -6.095243
Inverted AR Roots	02				Inverted AR Roots	05			

Dependent Variable: UK Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:27 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 55 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) = C(3) + C(4)*(ABS(RESID(-1)) - C(5)*RESID(-1))^C(7) + C(6)*@SQRT(GARCH(-1))^C(7) Dependent Variable: ICELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:29 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 97 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) = C(3) + C(4)*(ABS(RESID(-1)) - C(5)*RESID($-1)^{N}C(7) + C(6)*@SQRT(GARCH(-1))^{N}C(7)$

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	-5.58E-05 -0.047199	0.000167 0.022745	-0.334366 -2.075075	0.7381 0.0380	C AR(1)	0.000450 -0.004056	0.000176 0.023523	2.555429 -0.172412	0.0106 0.8631
	Variance	Equation				Variance I	Equation		
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6) C(7)	0.000462 0.066205 0.999990 0.936399 0.794969	0.000371 0.006804 0.028419 0.009265 0.164841	1.245514 9.730860 35.18781 101.0635 4.822645	0.2129 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6) C(7)	6.55E-10 0.616987 0.278400 0.609665 3.651642	5.00E-10 0.037229 0.021129 0.011132 0.133480	1.309731 16.57259 13.17639 54.76774 27.35726	0.1903 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.003781 0.003289 0.011336 0.260112 6635.912 2.037669	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz criter Hannan-Quin	lent var nt var iterion rion n criter.	-2.42E-05 0.011355 -6.543842 -6.524446 -6.536725	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.001950 -0.002445 0.027200 1.497461 6287.385 1.872368	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz critel Hannan-Quin	ent var nt var terion rion n criter.	-0.000584 0.027167 -6.199787 -6.180391 -6.192670
Inverted AR Roots	05				Inverted AR Roots	00			

Dependent Variable: IRELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:27 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 78 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) = C(3) + C(4)*(ABS(RESID(-1)) - C(5)*RESID(-1))^C(7) + C(6)*@SQRT(GARCH(-1))^C(7) Dependent Variable: PORTUGAL Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:27 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 31 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) @SQRT(GARCH)^C(7) = C(3) + C(4)*(ABS(RESID(-1)) - C(5)*RESID(-1))^C(7) + C(6)*@SQRT(GARCH(-1))^C(7)

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000304 0.039445	0.000190 0.021342	1.599554 1.848190	0.1097 0.0646	C AR(1)	0.000454 0.078139	0.000176 0.023235	2.578396 3.363003	0.0099 0.0008
	Variance	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6) C(7)	0.002581 0.063779 0.950351 0.924290 0.568919	0.000920 0.006430 0.051247 0.007544 0.083129	2.805081 9.918266 18.54447 122.5134 6.843796	0.0050 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	C(3) C(4) C(5) C(6) C(7)	4.61E-05 0.088884 0.388674 0.895835 1.337556	4.18E-05 0.010616 0.065109 0.010673 0.175256	1.103337 8.372484 5.969634 83.93740 7.631996	0.2699 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.004675 0.004183 0.010911 0.240946 6504.481 1.915507	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	0.000138 0.010934 -6.414097 -6.394701 -6.406980	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.006082 0.005591 0.009195 0.171136 6913.003 1.979887	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	5.26E-05 0.009221 -6.817377 -6.797981 -6.810260
Inverted AR Roots	.04				Inverted AR Roots	.08			

For the countries regardless of whether they were under a rescue program or not almost all APARCH(1,1) coefficients were found to be statistically significant at a 5% significance level. Those that were not significant are the C(3) coefficients of France, Portugal and UK, while in the case of Germany three out of seven C(3), C(4) and C(5) were not statistically significant since their coefficient's p values were bigger that the critical one.

8.5.5 TARCH

TARCH models are useful because they provide a threshold in both the conditional variance and the conditional mean of a time series, additionally they provide explanations regarding asymmetries as Hawg and Woo (2001) suggest. The below tables depicts the results of the TARCH (1,1) for the countries.

Table 9: TARCH(1,1) results

Dependent Variable: GERMANY Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:21 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 14 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)*2 + C(5)*RESID(-1)*2*(RESID(-1)<0) + C(6)*GARCH(-1) Dependent Variable: FRANCE Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:21 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 9 Iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*RESID(-1)^2(RESID(-1)<0) + C(6)*GARCH(-1)

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000217 -0.029390	0.000234 0.024396	0.926286 -1.204662	0.3543 0.2283	C AR(1)	6.52E-05 -0.048344	0.000215 0.023901	0.303075 -2.022651	0.7618 0.0431
	Variance	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2 RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) GARCH(-1)	2.23E-06 -0.006179 0.141672 0.919986	4.04E-07 0.011331 0.018724 0.011816	5.504302 -0.545335 7.566432 77.85761	0.0000 0.5855 0.0000 0.0000	C RESID(-1)^2 RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) GARCH(-1)	1.75E-06 -0.018523 0.140887 0.933697	2.98E-07 0.007441 0.015380 0.008480	5.872738 -2.489341 9.160542 110.1022	0.0000 0.0128 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.001231 0.000738 0.015494 0.485880 6018.357 2.015260	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion ın criter.	8.66E-05 0.015500 -5.935199 -5.918574 -5.929099	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	-0.000590 -0.001084 0.013966 0.394763 6177.934 1.946861	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quir	lent var ent var iterion rion n criter.	7.79E-06 0.013958 -6.092728 -6.076103 -6.086628
Inverted AR Roots	03				Inverted AR Roots	05			

Dependent Variable: UK Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:22 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 19 Iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) + C(6)*GARCH(-1) Dependent Variable: ICELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:21 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 299 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)^2 + C(5)*RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) + C(6)*GARCH(-1)

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	-2.42E-05 -0.063584	0.000170 0.023408	-0.142022 -2.716374	0.8871 0.0066	C AR(1)	0.000438 0.077041	0.000198 0.024018	2.206765 3.207700	0.0273 0.0013
	Variance	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2 RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) GARCH(-1)	1.61E-06 -0.021633 0.169692 0.917400	2.51E-07 0.013203 0.018531 0.011488	6.444696 -1.638421 9.157131 79.85609	0.0000 0.1013 0.0000 0.0000	C RESID(-1)^2 RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) GARCH(-1)	3.13E-07 0.090882 0.158179 0.890522	9.34E-08 0.006343 0.010094 0.001430	3.349691 14.32737 15.67127 622.5325	0.0008 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.004062 0.003570 0.011335 0.260038 6627.744 2.006093	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	dent var ent var iterion rion nn criter.	-2.42E-05 0.011355 -6.536766 -6.520141 -6.530666	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.001825 0.001332 0.027149 1.491819 6429.716 2.035374	Mean depenc S.D. depende Akaike info cr Schwarz crite Hannan-Quin	lent var ent var iterion rion ın criter.	-0.000584 0.027167 -6.341279 -6.324654 -6.335178
Inverted AR Roots	06				Inverted AR Roots	.08			

Dependent Variable: IRELAND Method: ML - ARCH (Marquardt) - Normal distribution Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:22 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2026 after adjustments Convergence achieved after 16 iterations Presample variance: backcast (parameter = 0.7) GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID(-1)*2 + C(5)*RESID(-1)*2*(RESID(-1)<0) + C(6)*GARCH(-1)					Dependent Variable: PORTU Method: ML - ARCH (Marquar Date: 10/08/16 Time: 12:22 Sample (adjusted): 2 2027 Included observations: 2027 Convergence achieved after Presample variance: backca: GARCH = C(3) + C(4)*RESID C(6)*GARCH(-1)	GAL (dt) - Normal (after adjustm 12 iterations st (parameter ((-1)^2 + C(5)	distribution ents ≠RESID(-1)^2*(I	RESID(-1)≺0)+
Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.	Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	z-Statistic	Prob.
C AR(1)	0.000468 0.048933	0.000224 0.024023	2.087025 2.036889	0.0369 0.0417	C AR(1)	0.000479 0.084784	0.000182 0.022832	2.640946 3.713420	0.0083 0.0002
	Variance I	Equation				Variance	Equation		
C RESID(-1)^2 RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) GARCH(-1)	4.90E-06 0.020257 0.147814 0.859323	5.29E-07 0.011143 0.017185 0.013014	9.277732 1.817882 8.601189 66.03278	0.0000 0.0691 0.0000 0.0000	C RESID(-1)^2 RESID(-1)^2*(RESID(-1)<0) GARCH(-1)	1.44E-06 0.036135 0.088209 0.897784	2.33E-07 0.009364 0.013172 0.010652	6.166145 3.859087 6.696857 84.28634	0.0000 0.0001 0.0000 0.0000
R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.004777 0.004285 0.010910 0.240922 6485.016 1.933467	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info crit Schwarz criter Hannan-Quini	ent var nt var terion ion n criter.	0.000138 0.010934 -6.395870 -6.379244 -6.389769	R-squared Adjusted R-squared S.E. of regression Sum squared resid Log likelihood Durbin-Watson stat	0.005982 0.005490 0.009196 0.171154 6909.964 1.992321	Mean depend S.D. depende Akaike info cri Schwarz criter Hannan-Quini	ent var nt var terion ion n criter.	5.26E-05 0.009221 -6.815365 -6.798739 -6.809264
Inverted AR Roots	.05				Inverted AR Roots	.08			

As it can be deducted, the coefficients of the TARCH (1,1) are found to be statistically significant at a 5% significance level since the null hypothesis is rejected. The p-values of the coefficients are bigger than the critical value with an exception. This is the α_1 coefficient for Germany, Ireland and UK which according to the results are not significant.

9. Comparison of the models and model selection

In order to conclude which model could forecast more efficiently the VaR for the scrutinized countries during the years followed the crisis, the Akaike's (1974) info and the Schwarz's (1978) info criteria are used. Both are based in the likelihood function. The likelihood can be increased if more parameters are included. One of the main concerns when adding parameters is to avoid overfitting. Overfiiting appears when fitting a bigger model than the one needed to present the dynamics of the data. In order to avoid this phenomenon, both AIC and SBIC penalize the incorporation of additional terms with SBIC to have a stricter penalty term Brooks (2008). In addition when it comes to larger samples, AIC provides better results.

9.1 Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC)

This criterion is one of the first used in order to evaluate a model's quality for a given set of data and that is why is among the famous criteria of model selection. AIC can find which of the models is the optimal, since it accounts how intricate a model is. Bozdogan (1987). AIC puts more weight in contrasting the goodness of fit among models and the main idea behind it is that the lower the criterion, the better the model is. Algebraically, AIC is expressed:

$$AIC = \ln(\sigma^2) + \frac{2k}{\tau} \qquad (16)$$

Where

 σ^2 : is the residual variance

k: is the sum of p,q and 1 and is the total number of parameters estimated T: is the sample size

The below Tables summarizes the results for the two Groups of countries that were analyzed in this paper.

Akaike's Info Criterion											
	France Germany UK										
ARCH (1)	-5,761	-5,904	-6,209								
GARCH (1,1)	-6,057	-5,904	-6,503								
EGARCH (1,1)	-6,099	-5,933	-6,541								
APARCH (1,1)	-6,102	-5,939	-6,543								
TGARCH (1,1)	-6,076	-5,935	-6,536								

Table 10: Akaike's Info Criterion for the first Group

Regarding the first Group, the richest countries of Europe, the AIC criterion suggest that the optimal model for forecasting VaR during the latest financial crisis would be EGARCH (1,1) for France and APARCH (1,1) for Germany and UK.

Akaike's info criterion				
	Portugal	Ireland	Iceland	
ARCH (1)	-6,611	-6,238	-5,450	
GARCH (1,1)	-6,801	-6,374	-6,304	
EGARCH (1,1)	-6,816	-6,408	-4,825	
APARCH (1,1)	-6,817	-6,414	-6,199	
TGARCH (1,1)	-6,815	-6,395	-6,341	

Table 11: Akaike's Info Criterion for the second Group

As far as the countries that were the most vulnerable and participated in a rescue program the AIC criterion reveals that the optimal model would be APARCH(1,1) when it comes to Portugal and Ireland and TGARCH (1,1) for Iceland.

Overall, although the optimal model was not the same in all countries or in the countries of the same Group, still APARCH (1,1) appears to be the most efficient. Therefore it could have a better predictive ability if it was used in VaR estimation.

9.2 Schwarz's Bayesian Information Criterion (SBIC)

The Schwarz Criterion (1978) is another method of finding which the optimal model for a set of data is and it is based on the likelihood function. It is widely known and used although it is preferable for smaller sample sizes. Algebraically, SBIC is expressed

SBIC =
$$\ln (\sigma^2) + \frac{k}{\tau} \ln T$$
 (17)

Where

 σ^2 : is the residual variance

k: is the sum of p,q and 1 and is the total number of parameters estimated T: is the sample size

The below Table 12 summarizes the results for the first Group of countries that was analyzed in this dissertation.

Schwarz's Criterion					
	France	Germany	UK		
ARCH (1)	-5,750	-5,890	-6,198		
GARCH (1,1)	-6,043	-5,890	-6,489		
EGARCH (1,1)	-6,082	-5,917	-6,525		
APARCH (1,1)	-6,082	-5,919	-6,524		
TGARCH (1,1)	-6,076	-5,918	-6,520		

Table 12: Schwarz's Criterion for the first Group

According to SBIC criterion, the decision regarding which model could provide more accurate VaR forecasts during the years of the financial crisis in the richest countries in Europe is not that clear. In the case of France both APARCH (1,1) and EGARCH(1,1) have the same SBIC coefficient. The same applies to the remaining two countries of the Group. For Germany both ARCH(1) and GARCH(1,1) seem to be accurate enough in order to be used in the VaR estimation. Last but not least, regarding UK once again APARCH (1,1) and EGARCH(1,1) could be used for the estimation of VaR.

Schwarz's Criterion					
	Portugal	Ireland	Iceland		
ARCH (1)	-6,600	-6,227	-5,440		
GARCH (1,1)	-6,788	-6,360	-6,290		
EGARCH (1,1)	-6,799	-6,391	-4,800		
APARCH (1,1)	-6,797	-6,304	-6,180		
TGARCH (1,1)	-6,799	-6,379	-6,320		

Table 13: Schwarz's Criterion for the second Group

As far as the second Group is concerned, in the countries most exposed to the financial crisis the optimal models appear to be EGARCH (1,1) for Ireland and TGARCH(1,1) for Iceland. In the case of Portugal, EGARCH (1,1) and TGARCH(1,1) seem to have the same SBIC coefficient and therefore the dissertation suggests that both models could be used in VaR forecasting.

Conclusions

Value at Risk is a very important key in order to measure market risk. One of the main objectives of this dissertation was to find out which model could have offered accurate predictions of the VaR during the latest financial economic crisis. In addition it was investigated whether the size of the economy is an important factor of VaR forecasting. The dissertation reveals that Historical Simulation couldn't be a sufficient method of forecasting VaR since according to backtesting procedure, it was rejected in almost all countries. Based on the Information Criteria, there is no apparent model that is optimal for all the scrutinized countries and could be used in the VaR forecasting. What's more evidence prove that the condition of the economy doesn't affect the model selection. Regarding SBIC, in many cases the comparison showed that for the same country more than one model could be applicable. The use of AIC on the other hand, provides more clear results regarding which model could be used in order to forecast more accurately the VaR for the European Stock Exchanges during the latest financial crisis with EGARCH (1,1) and APARCH(1,1) to be the prevailed ones in both Groups. The efficient measurement of market risk is a vital priority for both corporations and nations; that is why it is essential to estimate the optimal model in order to moderate the consequences of the market movements.

References

Akaike, H. (1974), A new look at the statistical model identification, *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, 19 (6), 716–723

Angelidis, T., and Skiadopoulos, G. (2008). Measuring the Market Risk of Freight Rates: A Value-at-Risk Approach. *International Journal of Theoretical and Applied Finance*, 11 (5), 447-469.

Angelidis, T., and Degiannakis, S. (2008). Volatility Forecasting: Intra-day vs. Inter-day Models. Journal *of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money, 18, 449-465*.

Angelidis, T., and Degiannakis, S. (2007). BacktestingVaRModels: A Two-Stage Procedure. *The Journal of Risk Model Validation*, 1 (2), 1-22.

Angelidis, T., and Degiannakis, S. (2007). Volatility Forecasting: Intraday versus interday models. *The Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money.* 18 (2008) 449-465.

Angelidis, T., Benos, A., and Degiannakis, S. (2006). A Robust VaRModel Under Different Time Periods and Weighting Schemes. *Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting*, 28, 187-201.

Angelidis, T., and Benos, A.(2006). Liquidity Adjusted Value-at-Risk based on the components of the bid-ask spread. *Applied Financial Economics*, 16 (11), 835-851.

Angelidis, T., Benos, A., and Degiannakis, S. (2004). The Use of GARCH Models in VaREstimation. *Statistical Methodology 1, 105-128*.

Artzner, P., Delbaen, F., Eber, J-M., and Heath D. (1997). Thinking Coherently. *Risk* 10, 68-71

Artzner, P., Delbaen, F., Eber, J-M., and Heath D. (1999). Coherent Measures of Risk. *Mathematical Finance, Vol. 9, No. 3 (July 1999), 203–228.*

Bangia, A., Diebold, F. X., Schuermann, T. and Stroughair, J. (1999). Modeling liquidity risk, with implications for traditional market risk measurement and management. *The Wharton Financial Institutions Center WP 99–06*.

Bali, TG., and Theodossiou, P., (2006. A conditional-SGT-VaR approach with alternative GARCH models. *Ann Oper Res, forthcoming*.

Barone Adesi, and G., Giannopoulos, K. (1999). The Case for Non Parametric Market Risk Measures. *Risk Professional Journal*

Barone-Adesi, G., Giannopoulos, K., and L. Vosper, (1999). VaR without Correlations for Nonlinear Portfolio . *Journal of Futures Markets, 19 (April), 583 - 602.*

Basak, S. and A. Shapiro (2001). Value-at-risk-based risk management: Optimal policies and asset prices. *The Review of Financial Studies* 14 (2), 371–405.

Bekiros, DS., and Georgoutsos, AD. (2005) J Int Fin Mark, Inst Mone 15 (3), 209-228

Billio, M. and Pelizzon, L. (2000). Value-at-risk: a multivariate switching regime approach. *J Empir Fin 7, 531–554*

Bollerslev, T. (1986). Generalized autoregressive conditional heteroskedasticity. J Econometrics 31, 307–327

Boudoukh, J., Richardson, M., and Whitelaw, R. (1998). The Best of Both Worlds. *Risk* 64-67.

Boucher, C., M., Daníelsson, J., Kouonchou, P. S., and Maillet, B. B. (2014). Risk models-at-risk. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 44, 72–92.

Bozdigan. H., (1987), Model selection and Akaike's Information Criterion: The general theory and it's analytical extensions phychometrica, *Phycometrica Vol 52 No 3, 345-370*.

Brooks, C.(2008). Introductory Econometrics for Finance , Cambridge University Press

Brooks, C., and Persand, G., (2003a), The effect of asymmetries on stock index return Value-at-Risk estimates. *J Risk Fin*, 29–42

Chen, S. X. (2008). Nonparametric estimation of expected shortfall. *Journal of Financial Econometrics*, *6*, 87–107

Chan, KF., and Gray, P. (2006) Using extreme value theory to measure value-at-risk for daily electricity spot prices. *Int J Forecasting 22(2), 283–300*

Chavez-Demoulin, V., and Davisony, A. C. and McNeil, A. J.(2004) Estimating Value-at-Risk: A point process approach. *Quantitative Finance Vol 5, p 227-234.*

Christoffersen, P. (1998). Evaluating the internal forecasts, *International Economic Review*, 39, 841-862

Christoffersen, P. (2011). Elements of Financial Risk Management. Academic Press.

Degiannakis, S. (2004). Volatility forecasting: evidence from a fractional integrated asymmetric power ARCH Skewed-t model. *App Fin Econ 14, 1333–1342*

de la Pena, V. H., Rivera, R., and Ruiz-Mata, J. (2007). Quality control of risk measures: backtesting VaR models. *Journal of Risk*, 9(2), 39–54.

Ding, Z. Granger, CWJ., and Engle, RF. (1993). A long memory property of stock market returns and a new model. *J Empiri Fin 1, 83–106*

Dowd, Kevin., (2002), Measuring Market Risk, Wiley Finance, John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Engle, RF. (1982). Autoregressive conditional heteroskedasticity with estimates of the variance of U.K. Inflation. *Econometrica 50, 987–1008*

Escanciano, J. C., and Olmo, J. (2010). Backtesting parametric value-at-risk with estimation risk. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, 28(1), 36–51.

Escanciano, J. C., and Pei, P., (2012). Pitfalls in Backtesting Historical Simulation VaR models. *CAEPR Working paper*

European Banking Authority, Available online at: https://www.eba.europa.eu/regulation-and-policy/market-risk [Accessed 21 August 2016]

Frey, R. and Michaud, P., (1997). The effect of GARCH-type volatilities on prices and payoff-distributions of derivative assets–a simulation study. *Preprint, ETH Zürich*.

Gencay, R., and Selcuk, R., (2004). Extreme value theory and Value at Risk: Relative performance in emerging markets. *International Journal of Forecasting 20, 287–303*

Gencay, R., Selcuk, F., and Ulugulyagcı, A. (2003). High volatility, thick tails and extreme value theory in Value at Risk estimations. *Insurance: Mathematics and Economics*.

Giot, P., (2005). Market risk models for intraday data. *European Journal of Finance 11,* 309–324

Giot, P. and Laurent, S. (2003b). Market risk in commodity markets: a VaR approach. Energy. *Econ 25, 435–457*

Guermat, C. and Harris, RDF. (2002) Forecasting value-at-risk allowing for time variation in the variance and kurtosis of portfolio returns. *Int J Forecasting 18, 409–419*

Gurrola, P., and Murphy, D. (2015). Filtered historical simulation Value at Risk models and their competitors. *Working Paper No 525, Bank of England*.

Hendricks, D.,(1996), Evaluation of value-at-risk models using historical data. *Econ Police Rev* 2,39–70

Herrera, R. and Schipp, B., (2013) Value at risk forecasts by extreme value models in a conditional duration framework. *Journal of Empirical Finance 23 (2013) 33–47*

Huang, YC., and Lin, B-. (2004). Value-at-risk analysis for Taiwan stock index futures: fat tails and conditional asymmetries in return innovations. *Rev Quant Fin Account 22*, 79–95

Hull, J., and A. White, 1998, Incorporating volatility updating for value-at-risk, *Journal* of Risk, no. 1, Fall, 5 - 19.

Hwang, S. Y, and Woo. M.J., (2001), Threshold ARCH(1) processes: asymptotic inference, *Statistics and Probability Letters 53*, (2001), 11-20.

Insee, National Institute of Statistics and Economic Studies, Available at: <u>http://www.insee.fr/en/themes/info-rapide.asp?id=123 [</u> Accessed 22 August 2016]

Jesus, R., Ortiz, E., and Cabello, A. (2013). Long run peso/dollar exchange rates and extreme value behavior: Value at Riskmodeling. *The North American Journal of Economics and Finance*, 24, 139–152.

Jorion, C. (2007). Value at Risk, McGraw-Hill.

JPMorgan, Reuters, (1996) 'Risk Metrics Technical Manual" 4th Edition.

Koopman, S.J., Jungbacker, B., and Hol, E., (2005). Forecasting daily variability of the S&P100 stock index using historical, realised and implied volatility measurements. *Journal of Empirical Finance 12 (3), 445–475.*

Kupiec, P.H, (1995). Techniques for verifying the accuracy of risk measurement models. *Journal of Derivatives*, *3*, 73-84

Lopez, A. J. (1999). Regulatory evaluation of value-at-risk models. *Journal of Risk, 1,* 37–64.

Nelson, D., (1991) Conditional heteroskedasticity in asset returns: a new approach. *Econometrica 59, 347–370*

Nieto, Maria Rosa. and Ruiz, E. (2015). Frontiers in VaR forecasting and backtesting. International Journal of Forecasting, 32 (2016) 475-501

Nieto, María Rosa, Ruiz, Esther., (2010). Bootstrap prediction intervals for VaR and ES in the context of GARCH models. *DES - Working Papers, Statistics and Econometrics WS 102814, Universidad Carlos III de Madrid*

O'Brien, J., and Szerszen P, J. An Evaluation of Bank VaR Measures for Market Risk During and Before the Financial Crisis. *Federal Reserve Board*.

Pérignon, C., and Smith, D. R. (2008). A new approach to comparing VaR estimation method. *The Journal of Derivatives*, *16*(2), *54–66*.

Pérignon, C., and Smith, D. R. (2010b). The level and quality of Value-at-risk disclosure by commercial banks. *Journal of Banking and Finance, 34, 362–377*.

Pritsker, M., (2001), The Hidden danger of historical Simulation. *Federal Reserve Working Paper*

Sajjad, R., Coakley, J., and Nankervis, T. (2008). Markov Switching GARCH modelling of Value at Risk . *Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics and Econometrics, 12 (3)*.

Schwarz, G., (1978), Estimating the dimension of a model, *Annals of Statistics*, **6** (2): 461–464,

Sheedy, E., Alexander, C., (2008). Developing a stress testing framework based on market risk models. *Journal of Banking & Finance 32* (2008) 2220–2236

Sener, E., Baronyan, S., and Mengütürk, L. A. (2012). Ranking the predictive performances of value-at-risk estimation methods. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 28(4), 849–873.

Silva, A., and Mendes, B. (2003). Value-at-risk and extreme returns in Asian stock markets *International Journal of Business*, *8*, *17–40*.

Schwert, ., (1989. Why does stock market volatility change over time?. *J Fin 44*, *1115–1153*

Statistisches Bundesamt, Available at: <u>https://www.destatis.de/EN/Homepage.html</u> [Accessed 22 August 2016]

Taylor, S. (1986). *Modeling financial time series*. Wiley, New York

Vlaar, P.,(2000), Value at risk models for Dutch bond portfolios. J Bank Fin 24, 131– 154

Yamai, Y. and T. Yoshiba (2005). Value-at-risk versus expected shortfall: A practical perspective. *Journal of Banking & Finance 29 (4), 997–1015*.

Zikovic, S., and Aktan, B. (2011). Decay factor optimization in time weighted simulation — evaluating VaR performance. *International Journal of Forecasting*, 27 (4), 1147–1159.